

NARENDRA MODI'S USA VISIT

Published February 15, 2025 Publication No. RP0535-150225





Centre for Integrated and Holistic Studies (CIHS) is a non-partisan, independent, research think tank headquartered in New Delhi, India. CIHS is dedicated to enriching individual decision making by presenting innovative ideas, fostering informed public debate, and advancing effective policy and programme development to advance humanity. Aspiring to positively shape the future of society, CIHS works to share knowledge on pressing global challenges and opportunities by fostering a 'culture of scholarship 'and advancing informed public engagement.

Every effort is made to ensure that the information contained in these publicly available briefings, factsheets, reports are correct at the time of publication. However, if you have any comments on our documents please email info@cihs.org.in

Disclaimer and Limitation of Liability: This report is for public distribution and has been furnished solely for information and must not be reproduced or redistributed to others without written consent. None can use the report as a base for any claim, demand or cause of action and, also none is responsible for any loss incurred based upon the report.

Table of Contents

1. Introduction

2. Overview of the Visit

- 2.1. Context and Objectives
- 2.2. Key Themes and Focus Areas

3. Strategic Dialogues with U.S. Leadership

- 3.1. Meeting with President Donald J. Trump
- 3.2. Strategic Discussions on Tariffs, Extradition, Illegal Immigration, and the Russia-Ukraine Conflict

4. Bilateral Engagements and High-Level Meetings

- 4.1. Meeting with Elon Musk Head of U.S. Department of Government Efficiency (DOGE)
- 4.2. Meeting with U.S. National Security Advisor Michael Waltz
- 4.3. Meeting with U.S. Director of National Intelligence Tulsi Gabbard
- 4.4. Additional Engagements and Public Communications

5. Key Announcements and Initiatives

- 5.1. U.S.-India COMPACT for the 21st Century
- 5.2. Defense and Security Initiatives
 - ° Ten-Year Major Defense Partnership Framework
 - Autonomous Systems Industry Alliance (ASIA)
 - ° Enhanced Military Collaboration and Joint Exercises
 - 5.3. Economic and Trade Initiatives
 - ° "Mission 500" Trade Goal and Bilateral Trade Agreement
 - ° Greenfield Investments and Market Access Enhancements
 - 5.4. Energy Security and Civil Nuclear Cooperation
 - ° U.S.-India Energy Security Partnership
 - ° U.S.-India 123 Civil Nuclear Agreement
 - 5.5. Technology and Innovation Initiatives
 - ° U.S.-India TRUST Initiative
 - ° INDUS Innovation Bridge and Trusted Supply Chains
 - ° Strategic Mineral Recovery and Civil Space Cooperation

6. Multilateral and Regional Engagements

- 6.1. Quad and Indo-Pacific Partnerships
- 6.2. Initiatives in the Middle East and Indian Ocean Region

7. Public Diplomacy and People-to-People Engagements

- 7.1. Academic and Talent Exchanges
- 7.2. Public Communication Initiatives (World Radio Day, Mann Ki Baat)

8. Analytical Overview and Expert Insights

- 8.1. Strategic Implications and Long-Term Vision
- 8.2. Expert Commentary and Future Prospects

9. Concluding Observations

1. Introduction

Prime Minister Narendra Modi's visit to the United States in February 2025 represents a significant milestone in the evolution of the India-U.S. relationship. This visit was not only a display of high-level diplomacy but also a demonstration of both nations 'commitment to addressing contemporary challenges while harnessing emerging opportunities in multiple domains. With a focus on strategic defense, innovative technologies, economic reforms, and multilateral cooperation, the visit set the stage for a renewed and expansive partnership between the two democracies.

This report outlines the key engagements, strategic dialogues, and transformative initiatives that were announced during the visit. It aims to provide a comprehensive overview of the discussions and agreements reached, highlighting the broad range of issues that are set to shape the future of bilateral relations.

2. Overview of the Visit

2.1. Context and Objectives

The visit was convened against the backdrop of an increasingly complex global landscape where traditional alliances are being tested by emerging challenges. For India and the United States, strengthening their strategic partnership has never been more critical. Prime Minister Modi's trip was designed to reaffirm mutual trust and expand cooperation in areas that are essential for national security, economic prosperity, and technological advancement.

In a time when global challenges such as terrorism, climate change, and shifting geopolitical dynamics demand robust responses, both nations sought to elevate their bilateral engagement. The objectives of the visit were clearly defined: to advance strategic defense cooperation, facilitate innovative economic policies, and build resilient technological and energy frameworks.

2.2. Key Themes and Focus Areas

The visit concentrated on several key themes, each reflective of the multifaceted nature of the India-U.S. relationship. The discussions ranged from traditional areas of defense and security to newer dimensions such as artificial intelligence, sustainable development, and civil nuclear cooperation.

Central to the agenda was the need to balance national security imperatives with economic and technological progress. This dual focus ensures that while both nations prepare for the challenges of modern warfare and intelligence sharing, they are equally committed to driving innovation and ensuring a prosperous future for their citizens.

3. Strategic Dialogues with U.S. Leadership

3.1. Meeting with President Donald J. Trump

A pivotal moment of the visit was Prime Minister Modi's meeting with President Donald J. Trump in Washington, D.C. This high-level engagement underscored the depth of the strategic relationship between the two nations. During the meeting, both leaders reiterated their commitment to the India-U.S. Comprehensive Global Strategic Partnership, a framework that has long served as the bedrock for bilateral cooperation.

The discussions with President Trump culminated in the launch of the U.S.-India COMPACT for the 21st Century. This initiative was designed to create a transformative roadmap across multiple sectors, ensuring that tangible outcomes are achieved in the defense, commerce, and technology arenas within the year. The meeting reinforced the importance of shared values and mutual interests in forging a stronger, more resilient alliance.

3.2. Strategic Discussions on Tariffs, Extradition, Illegal Immigration, and the Russia-Ukraine Conflict

In addition to broader strategic themes, specific issues were discussed in depth with President Trump. One major area of focus was the rebalancing of tariffs to ensure a more equitable trade relationship. Both leaders recognized that streamlined tariffs would not only boost bilateral trade but also support job creation and economic growth.

Other sensitive topics included the extradition process of Tahawwur Rana, which highlighted the importance of judicial cooperation in combating terrorism. The discussions further extended to combating illegal immigration—a shared challenge that has significant national security implications. Finally, the global impact of the Russia-Ukraine conflict was analyzed, with both sides agreeing on the necessity of a coordinated approach to uphold international stability and safeguard the rules-based order.

4. Bilateral Engagements and High-Level Meetings

4.1. Meeting with Elon Musk – Head of U.S. Department of Government Efficiency (DOGE)

Elon Musk, known for his groundbreaking work in technology and space, met with Prime Minister Modi in his dual capacity as the head of the U.S. Department of Government Efficiency (DOGE) and CEO of Tesla. This meeting symbolised the confluence of public and private sector innovation, emphasizing the need for a collaborative approach in addressing modern challenges.

Their discussions spanned a wide range of topics including innovation in space exploration, artificial intelligence, and sustainable development. The dialogue also focused on how emerging technologies can be leveraged to improve government efficiency and promote good governance. Musk's presence, accompanied by his family, added a personal touch to the engagement, reinforcing the idea that innovation transcends institutional boundaries and is a shared pursuit for global progress.

4.2. Meeting with U.S. National Security Advisor Michael Waltz

U.S. National Security Advisor Michael Waltz's meeting with Prime Minister Modi was a critical engagement aimed at bolstering the security framework between the two nations. This discussion centered on the importance of strategic technologies and defense industrial cooperation, particularly in the context of emerging global threats.

The conversation with Waltz delved into the specifics of enhancing civil nuclear energy cooperation, including the development and deployment of small modular reactors. Additionally, the meeting provided a platform to discuss counterterrorism measures and intelligence sharing. This exchange not only highlighted the shared security concerns but also underscored the commitment of both nations to work together in creating a safer, more secure world.

4.3. Meeting with U.S. Director of National Intelligence Tulsi Gabbard

The visit also featured a meeting with Tulsi Gabbard, the U.S. Director of National Intelligence, which was instrumental in shaping the future of bilateral intelligence cooperation. In this high-level dialogue, both leaders emphasised the necessity of strengthening intelligence sharing, especially in the domains of counterterrorism and cybersecurity.

Discussions with Ms. Gabbard focused on building robust mechanisms to detect, deter, and respond to emerging threats. The meeting underscored a mutual recognition that security in today's digital age requires not just traditional measures but also advanced technological tools and coordinated

intelligence efforts. This engagement was a clear indication of the priority placed on maintaining a secure and stable international order.

4.4. Additional Engagements and Public Communications

Beyond the formal meetings, Prime Minister Modi also engaged with the public and media to share the outcomes of his visit. His participation in events such as World Radio Day and his invitation for public input for the upcoming Mann Ki Baat session were aimed at reinforcing the message of connectivity and openness.

These public communications played a critical role in ensuring that the vision of a strengthened India-U.S. partnership was clearly communicated to the citizens of both countries. The comprehensive press conferences and media statements provided transparency and fostered a sense of shared purpose, making the diplomatic engagements accessible to a broader audience.

5. Key Announcements and Initiatives

5.1. U.S.-India COMPACT for the 21st Century

The U.S.-India COMPACT for the 21st Century was one of the landmark outcomes of PM Modi's visit. This initiative represents a forward-thinking agenda aimed at accelerating transformative change across multiple sectors. It is designed as a results-driven framework to foster cooperation in defense, commerce, and technology.

The COMPACT is more than just a declaration—it is a commitment to deliver tangible outcomes within the current year. By launching this initiative, both nations have set a clear direction for the future, underpinned by mutual trust and a shared vision for progress. The COMPACT is expected to drive deep-seated changes that will not only benefit strategic sectors but also enhance overall bilateral cooperation.

5.2. Defense and Security Initiatives

Ten-Year Major Defense Partnership Framework

A central pillar of the visit was the commitment to sign a new ten-year framework that will further cement defense cooperation between India and the United States. This framework is expected to enhance the interoperability of the two nations 'armed forces through expanded defense sales and co-production agreements.

The framework will serve as a foundation for a dynamic defense partnership, addressing the evolving security needs of both countries. By fostering a closer relationship in defense technologies and strategic systems, this initiative aims to create a robust security architecture capable of addressing both conventional and unconventional threats.

Autonomous Systems Industry Alliance (ASIA)

Under the umbrella of defense industrial cooperation, the newly announced Autonomous Systems Industry Alliance (ASIA) is poised to be a game-changer in the field of modern warfare. This alliance focuses on the development of cutting-edge autonomous systems, with particular emphasis on underwater domain awareness.

ASIA represents a collaborative effort to integrate advanced technologies into defense strategies. The alliance is designed to drive innovation in autonomous systems, ensuring that both nations are equipped with next-generation capabilities to address emerging security challenges. It underscores the strategic priority given to technological superiority in modern defense.

Enhanced Military Collaboration and Joint Exercises

Another significant aspect of the visit was the commitment to elevate military collaboration through enhanced training exercises and joint operations. Initiatives such as an expanded "Tiger Triumph" triservice exercise are set to improve operational readiness and strategic interoperability between the Indian and U.S. armed forces.

This enhanced military collaboration is not only about conducting exercises but also about building mutual trust and ensuring that both nations are prepared for rapid response in crisis situations. By aligning their operational protocols and sharing intelligence, India and the U.S. aim to create a more cohesive and effective military partnership.

5.3. Economic and Trade Initiatives

"Mission 500" Trade Goal and Bilateral Trade Agreement

The economic agenda of the visit included the ambitious "Mission 500" initiative, which aims to double bilateral trade to \$500 billion by 2030. This bold target is designed to catalyze economic growth and create substantial opportunities for businesses in both countries.

In tandem with this trade goal, discussions were held on negotiating a comprehensive multi-sector Bilateral Trade Agreement (BTA) by the fall of 2025. The agreement is expected to streamline trade practices, reduce tariff and non-tariff barriers, and ultimately foster a more balanced and prosperous economic relationship between India and the United States.

Greenfield Investments and Market Access Enhancements

In addition to trade reforms, the visit highlighted the importance of attracting greenfield investments. By facilitating investments in high-value sectors, both nations aim to stimulate economic growth and generate employment opportunities.

Efforts to enhance market access for various products and services were also discussed. These measures include lowering tariffs on key sectors and improving the regulatory environment to support increased bilateral commerce. The focus is on creating a conducive atmosphere for business expansion and ensuring that both economies can reap the benefits of a deeper economic partnership.

5.4. Energy Security and Civil Nuclear Cooperation

U.S.-India Energy Security Partnership

Energy security remains a critical component of national stability, and the visit reaffirmed the commitment to strengthen cooperation in the energy sector. The U.S.-India Energy Security Partnership focuses on ensuring reliable, affordable, and sustainable energy supplies through joint initiatives in oil, gas, and liquefied natural gas (LNG).

The partnership also aims to expand strategic petroleum reserves and enhance collaboration on energy infrastructure projects. By leveraging each other's strengths in energy production and management, both nations seek to create a more resilient energy framework that can withstand global market fluctuations and geopolitical uncertainties.

U.S.-India 123 Civil Nuclear Agreement

Another significant aspect of the energy agenda was the reaffirmation of the U.S.-India 123 Civil Nuclear Agreement. This agreement is focused on advancing civil nuclear cooperation, particularly through the development of U.S.-designed reactors in India.

Key challenges such as civil liability have been addressed to pave the way for increased technology transfer and localization of nuclear power generation. Special emphasis is being placed on the development of small modular reactors, which promise to be more adaptable and cost-effective. This initiative not only enhances energy security but also contributes to sustainable and low-carbon power generation.

5.5. Technology and Innovation Initiatives

U.S.-India TRUST Initiative

The U.S.-India TRUST initiative—Transforming the Relationship Utilizing Strategic Technology—is designed to be a catalyst for innovation across both nations. This initiative encourages collaboration among governments, academia, and the private sector to accelerate advancements in critical technologies such as artificial intelligence, semiconductors, and quantum computing.

By fostering an ecosystem of innovation, the TRUST initiative seeks to build a resilient technological infrastructure that can drive economic growth and enhance national security. This collaborative approach ensures that both countries remain at the forefront of technological progress and are well-prepared to tackle future challenges.

INDUS Innovation Bridge and Trusted Supply Chains

In parallel with the TRUST initiative, the INDUS Innovation Bridge is aimed at strengthening industry–academic partnerships and creating trusted supply chains for vital components. Focus areas include semiconductors, critical minerals, advanced materials, and pharmaceuticals.

This initiative is designed to mitigate vulnerabilities in global supply chains by promoting localised production and innovation. It underscores the importance of technological self-reliance and aims to build a more secure and efficient framework for the production and distribution of essential goods.

Strategic Mineral Recovery and Civil Space Cooperation

Recognising the critical role of raw materials in technological advancement, the visit also spotlighted initiatives for strategic mineral recovery. These efforts are intended to accelerate the recovery and processing of essential minerals such as lithium and cobalt, which are crucial for advanced manufacturing and renewable energy technologies.

Additionally, civil space cooperation was a prominent theme. Joint projects, including a NASA-ISRO collaboration aimed at sending the first Indian astronaut to the International Space Station and the early launch of the "NISAR" mission to map Earth's surface changes, highlight the commitment to

advancing space exploration. These initiatives are set to position both nations as leaders in the global space arena.

6. Multilateral and Regional Engagements

6.1. Quad and Indo-Pacific Partnerships

The strategic value of the Quad and Indo-Pacific frameworks was reinforced during the visit. Both India and the United States emphasised the importance of maintaining a free, open, and rules-based Indo-Pacific region. This cooperation is essential to safeguard maritime security and ensure the stability of regional trade routes.

The Quad framework also provides a platform for broader regional engagement, enabling collaborative initiatives that extend beyond bilateral ties. With plans to host the Quad Leaders' Summit in New Delhi and introduce new mechanisms such as shared airlift capacity and enhanced maritime patrols, the partnership is poised to address emerging security challenges and foster greater regional integration.

6.2. Initiatives in the Middle East and Indian Ocean Region

Recognizing the interconnected nature of global security and economic interests, the visit also addressed initiatives in the Middle East and Indian Ocean regions. Collaborative projects in these areas are focused on developing critical infrastructure, advancing economic corridors, and ensuring the stability of strategic sea lanes.

These engagements aim to build broader partnerships that extend beyond the bilateral framework, incorporating multilateral efforts to boost connectivity and regional development. By investing in digital infrastructure—such as undersea cable projects—both nations are working to enhance global communication networks and strengthen economic linkages across continents.

7. Public Diplomacy and People-to-People Engagements

7.1. Academic and Talent Exchanges

The visit underscored the importance of people-to-people ties as a cornerstone of the India-U.S. relationship. Efforts to expand academic and talent exchanges are aimed at nurturing a new generation of leaders and innovators who can contribute to both nations 'growth.

Initiatives such as joint degree programs, the establishment of Centers of Excellence, and streamlined legal mobility for students and professionals are central to this agenda. By fostering cross-cultural academic collaborations, both nations aim to leverage the vast pool of talent and create lasting partnerships that transcend geographical boundaries.

7.2. Public Communication Initiatives (World Radio Day, Mann Ki Baat)

Prime Minister Modi's active use of public communication platforms was a key aspect of the visit. Celebrating World Radio Day, Modi emphasised the role of radio in connecting people and sharing ideas. He also invited the public to contribute to his upcoming Mann Ki Baat session, ensuring that the vision of the visit reached every citizen.

These initiatives are designed to reinforce transparency and foster public engagement. By directly communicating the goals and outcomes of the visit, the government sought to build a sense of shared purpose and confidence in the evolving partnership with the United States.

8. Analytical Overview and Expert Insights

8.1. Strategic Implications and Long-Term Vision

The comprehensive nature of PM Modi's USA visit reflects a broader long-term vision for the India-U.S. partnership. By addressing a diverse range of issues—from defense and trade to technology and energy—the visit underscores the commitment to a holistic and forward-looking agenda.

The strategic implications of this engagement are significant. The focus on innovation and advanced defense capabilities, coupled with robust economic reforms, positions both nations to navigate the complexities of the 21st century. This renewed partnership is expected to have far-reaching effects on regional security and global stability, ensuring that both nations are well-prepared to address future challenges.

8.2. Expert Commentary and Future Prospects

For a deeper analytical perspective, experts such as Dr. C. Raja Mohan have been suggested to comment on the outcomes of the visit. His insights into strategic affairs and Indo-U.S. relations provide valuable context to understand the implications of the newly launched initiatives and bilateral agreements.

Experts predict that the enhanced collaboration in defense, technology, and economic sectors will drive transformative change in the years to come. The future prospects for the partnership look promising, with both nations poised to capitalise on emerging opportunities and jointly address global challenges through a comprehensive, multidimensional approach.

9. Concluding Observations

Prime Minister Narendra Modi's visit to the United States in February 2025 marks a watershed moment in the evolution of the India-U.S. relationship. With its expansive agenda—spanning strategic dialogues, high-level bilateral meetings, and the launch of transformative initiatives—the visit has laid a robust foundation for a comprehensive partnership built on shared values, mutual interests, and a commitment to progress.

From strategic defense frameworks and innovative technology initiatives to ambitious economic goals and multilateral engagements, every facet of the visit was aimed at reinforcing the enduring bonds between the two nations. As both countries navigate an increasingly complex global landscape, the strengthened Indo-U.S. partnership is set to be a cornerstone of regional stability and global prosperity.

In conclusion, the visit not only reaffirms the strategic alliance but also charts a forward-looking path that integrates defense, economic, technological, and diplomatic imperatives. This comprehensive approach ensures that the partnership remains dynamic, responsive, and capable of addressing the evolving challenges of the 21st century.

10. References

- 1. **Press Information Bureau (PIB), Government of India**, 'India U.S. Joint Statement during the visit of Prime Minister of India to US' (14 February 2025) https://www.pib.gov.in accessed 14 February 2025.
- **2. Press Information Bureau (PIB), Government of India**, 'Head of US Department of Government Efficiency (DOGE) calls on PM' (13 February 2025) https://www.pib.gov.in accessed 13 February 2025.
- **3. Press Information Bureau (PIB), Government of India**, 'US National Security Advisor Michael Waltz calls on PM' (13 February 2025) https://www.pib.gov.in accessed 13 February 2025.
- **4. Press Information Bureau (PIB), Government of India**, 'U.S. Director of National Intelligence calls on PM' (13 February 2025) https://www.pib.gov.in accessed 13 February 2025.
- **5. Press Statement by Prime Minister Narendra Modi**, 'India USA Joint Press Conference' (14 February 2025) https://www.pib.gov.in accessed 14 February 2025.
- **6. Social Media Communication by Prime Minister Narendra Modi**, 'World Radio Day and Pariksha Pe Charcha posts on X' (13 February 2025) https://twitter.com/narendramodi accessed 13 February 2025.

- 7. Ministry of External Affairs, Government of India, 'India-U.S. Strategic Partnership: Vision 2025' (2025) https://mea.gov.in accessed 14 February 2025.
- **8. U.S. Department of State**, 'India-U.S. Strategic Dialogue and Defense Cooperation' (2025) https://www.state.gov.accessed 14 February 2025.
- **9. U.S. National Security Council**, 'Joint Initiatives on Indo-US Defense Collaboration' (2025) https://www.whitehouse.gov accessed 14 February 2025.
- 10. Dr C Raja Mohan, 'Indo-US Strategic Partnership: Challenges and Opportunities' (2025)
- 11. https://www.example.com accessed 14 February 2025.

CIHS | Centre for Integrated and Holistic Studies

Centre for Integrated and Holistic Studies (CIHS) is an non-partisan, independent, research think tank headquartered in New Delhi, India. It is committed to bringing innovative ideas to the society, fostering informed public debate, promoting good policy and programme formulation.

Ultimately, enhancing individual decision-making on some of the world's most pressing issues.

